
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI 

NORTHERN DIVISION 
 
JOHN DOE PLAINTIFF 
 
V. CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:21-cv-201-DPJ-FKB 
 
UNIVERSITY OF MISSISISPPI MEDICAL  
CENTER, ET AL. GERALD CLARK, PhD., 
in his individual capacity, LORETTA   
JACKSON-WILLIAMS, M.D., PhD., in her   
individual capacity, KATIE MCCLENDON,   
Pharm.D., in her individual capacity, MARK   
RAY, in his individual capacity, and   
LOUANN WOODWARD, M.D., in her  
official capacity DEFENDANTS  
 
 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 
 

 The Court gave Plaintiff John Doe an opportunity to comply with Rule 8 by filing an 

amended pleading presenting a “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader 

is entitled to relief.” Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint fails to correct the pleading errors of his 

original pleading and still does not comply with Rule 8. Plaintiff also failed to heed the Court’s 

instruction to plead his claims “in a way that allows a proper qualified-immunity analysis” with 

respect to the individual Defendants. The Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint in 

its entirety. 

1. Facts and Procedural History 

The material allegations underlying Plaintiff’s claims are straightforward, and they have 

not changed since Defendants’ last Motion to Dismiss. Plaintiff was a medical student at the 

University of Mississippi Medical Center. Three different women at UMMC reported Plaintiff 

had engaged in inappropriate behavior toward them. UMMC’s Dean’s Council dismissed him 

from the program for violating the institution’s Policy on Professional Behavior. After an appeals 

Case 3:21-cv-00201-DPJ-FKB   Document 54   Filed 05/23/22   Page 1 of 9



2 
 

hearing, the Dean’s Council affirmed its decision. Around the same time, a fellow student with 

whom Plaintiff previously had an intimate relationship filed a complaint with UMMC’s Title IX 

coordinator accusing Plaintiff of sexual misconduct. After an investigation and hearing, Plaintiff 

was found responsible for sexual misconduct and expelled. Plaintiff claims he was deprived of 

his rights to due process and equal protection and that he was dismissed because of his race and 

sex. 

Plaintiff’s original Complaint spanned ninety-two pages, listed ten Defendants, and 

purported to state six causes of action. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss that, among other 

arguments, cited the Complaint’s numerous pleading errors and invoked qualified immunity 

defenses on behalf of the individual Defendants. In response, Plaintiff conceded certain of his 

claims. The Court dismissed the conceded claims, found that the Complaint violated Rule 8, and 

instructed Plaintiff to file an amended complaint that would “streamline the pleadings by (1) 

eliminating the conceded claims and parties; (2) eliminating unnecessary commentary and legal 

arguments; (3) specifically identifying the facts supporting the remaining counts against the 

individual defendants.” Order, at 11 [Doc. 47]. 

2. Standard of Review 

Rule 12(b)(6) authorizes dismissal for failure to state a claim. “To avoid dismissal, ‘a 

complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is 

plausible on its face.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). “To be plausible, the complaint’s factual allegations must 

be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570 

(internal quotation omitted). In making this determination, courts accept all well-pleaded facts as 

true and construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Doe v. MySpace, Inc., 
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528 F.3d 413, 418 (5th Cir. 2008). The court does not, however, accept as true “conclusory 

allegations, unwarranted factual inferences, or legal conclusions.” Ferrer v. Chevron Corp., 484 

F.3d 776, 780 (5th Cir. 2007) (quoting Plotkin v. IP Axess Inc., 407 F.3d 690, 696 (5th Cir. 

2005)); see also Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679 (“While legal conclusions can provide the complaint’s 

framework, they must be supported by factual allegations.”). 

3. Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint violates Rule 8 and should be dismissed. 

FED. R. CIV. P. 8(a) requires pleadings to contain “a short and plain statement of the 

claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief[.]” Under Rule 8(d), “[e]ach allegation must 

be “simple, concise, and direct.” The Fifth Circuit has noted the “underlying purpose” of Rule 8 

is to “achieve brevity, simplicity, and clarity” in pleadings. Gordon v. Green, 602 F.2d 743, 746 

(5th Cir. 1979) (quoting Knox v. First Security Bank of Utah, 196 F.2d 112, 117 (10th Cir. 

1952)). See also Hall v. Civil Air Patrol, Inc., 193 Fed. App’x 298, 299 (5th Cir. 2006) (“Rule 

8(a) requires parties to make their pleadings straightforward, so that judges and adverse parties 

need not try to fish a gold coin from a bucket of mud.”) (quoting Garst v. Lockheed–Martin 

Corp., 328 F.3d 374, 378 (7th Cir. 2003)); Simmons v. Jackson, No. 3:15-CV-01700-D, 2016 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 180852, at *5 (N.D. Tex. Nov. 10, 2016) (“A complaint that is ‘prolix and/or 

confusing’ should be dismissed because it ‘makes it difficult for the defendant to file a 

responsive pleading and for the court to conduct orderly litigation.’”) (quoting Vicom, Inc. v. 

Harbridge Merchant Servs., Inc., 20 F.3d 771, 775-76 (7th Cir. 1994)); 5 C. Wright & A. Miller, 

Fed. Prac. & Proc. § 1281 (4th ed.) (“Unnecessary prolixity in a pleading places an unjustified 

burden on the district judge and the party who must respond to it because they are forced to ferret 

out the relevant material from a mass of verbiage.”). 
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Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is sixty-two pages long, and it contains 286 enumerated 

allegations, many of which contain more than a dozen single-spaced sub-paragraphs. See Am. 

Compl., at §§ 220, 221, 222, 262, 270, 277, 278. Much of the pleading is dedicated to the 

minute-by-minute allegations of fact related to the events from which Plaintiff’s claims arise. See 

Millet v. Godchaux Sugars, Inc., 241 F.2d 264, 266 (5th Cir. 1957) (noting that Rule 8 “forbids 

the prolix recitation of probable evidence”); 2 Moore’s Federal Practice - Civil § 8.02 (noting 

that “the short and plain statements of the pleadings are developed in more factual detail by using 

the pre-trial processes of disclosure and discovery that are set forth in Rules 26 through 37”). 

While Plaintiff removed some of the original Complaint’s historical commentary, legal 

arguments, and allegations related to dismissed Defendants, the Amended Complaint still 

includes pages of clearly extraneous and conclusory averments about the “history of racism” at 

UMMC and the (now-dismissed) University of Mississippi. Id. at 32-37 (“Background”).1 

Plaintiff also dismissed Eric Hospodor and Pamela Greenwood as Defendants but removed none 

of the allegations directed toward them in the original Complaint. E.g., id. at §§ 106; 123-33; 

152-57. 

While the Amended Complaint violates Rule 8 by virtue of its length alone, the nature of 

Plaintiff’s allegations also flies in the face of the Rule’s purpose, as many of his allegations do 

nothing to advance his claims. For instance, Plaintiff peppers his amended pleading with 

unprovable laudatory comments about himself that have no bearing on the claims at issue. See, 

e.g., id. at § 35 (alleging Plaintiff “was the joyful recipient of many smiles, well wishes and 

explicit ‘thanks’ for his important, prominent role at UMMC”); § 76 (describing Plaintiff as a 

“loving son, an enduring source of pride to his family and the community”). The Amended 

 
1 This section also includes the use of a racial slur, italicized for emphasis, that can only be 
described as gratuitous. Am. Compl., at § 178. 
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Complaint also retains Plaintiff’s extensive and unnecessary description of his sexual 

relationship with non-party “Jane Roe,” Id., at 7-9, as well as repeated pejoratives directed 

toward her. See, e.g., id. at § 65 (“adulterous”); § 131 (“classless”); § 165 n.7 (“alligator tears”). 

In fact, Plaintiff took the opportunity to add additional such allegations. See id. at § 37 (Plaintiff 

was “pursued by the wrong white woman”); § 55 (“Complainant could not stop her desire for a 

physical relationship with plaintiff and could not stop pursuing him.”). 

Plaintiff’s allegations are anything but “simple, concise, and direct.” He drafted them 

without regard to the Court’s admonition to comply with Rule 8 or Defendants’ obligation to 

fairly meet the substance of the allegations. The Court should dismiss the Amended Complaint in 

its entirety. 

4. The remaining Individual Defendants are entitled to qualified immunity. 
 
Designed to protect “all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the 

law,” Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 341 (1986), the qualified immunity defense “protects 

public officials from suit unless their conduct violates a clearly established constitutional right.” 

DePree v. Saunders, 588 F.3d 282, 287 (5th Cir. 2009) (citing Mace v. City of Palestine, 333 F.3d 

621, 623 (5th Cir. 2003)). The qualified immunity standard “gives ample room for mistaken 

judgments.” DePree, 588 F.3d 282 at 287 (citing Malley, 475 U.S. at 343).  

Where a defendant pleads qualified immunity and shows he is a governmental official 

whose position involves the exercise of discretion, the plaintiff has the burden to establish that 

the alleged conduct violates clearly-established law.  Kovacic v. Villarreal, 628 F.3d 209, 211 

(5th Cir. 2010) (citing Thompson v. Upshur County, TX, 245 F.3d 447, 456 (5th Cir. 2001); Foley 

v. Univ. of Houston Sys., 355 F.3d 333, 338 (5th Cir. 2003) (“Claims against individual public 

officials under § 1981 are subject to the defense of qualified immunity . . . as are claims against 
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such individuals under § 1983.”). 

The question of qualified immunity is to be determined as a matter of law and requires a 

conduct-based inquiry, not an abstract legal or factual inquiry. E.g., Elder v. Holloway, 510 U.S. 

510, 515-16 (1994). A Section 1983 plaintiff “must specify the personal involvement of each 

defendant.” Murphy v. Kellar, 950 F.2d 290, 292 (5th Cir. 1992); see also Del Castillo v. PMI 

Holdings N. Am. Inc., No. 4:14-CV-3435, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 80301, 2015 WL 3833447, at 

*6 (S.D. Tex. June 22, 2015) (“A complaint does not satisfy the requirements of Iqbal and 

Twombly by lumping together all defendants, while providing no factual basis to distinguish their 

conduct.”). A “plaintiff seeking to overcome qualified immunity must plead specific facts that 

both allow the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the harm he 

has alleged and that defeat a qualified immunity defense with equal specificity.” Backe v. 

Leblanc, 691 F.3d 645, 648 (5th Cir. 2012).  

The Court previously noted “the sheer length of the [original] Complaint and variety of 

issues make it difficult to link the individual defendants to the factual predicates for Plaintiff’s 

causes of action against them.” Order, at 10 [Doc. 47]. The Amended Complaint does little to 

address the issues that made it “impossible to fully evaluate Defendants’[first] motion for 

qualified immunity.” Id. Instead, the Amended Complaint merely pastes the individual 

Defendants’ names within Plaintiff’s causes of action. See Am. Compl., at §§ 220-22; 262; 270; 

277-78. A cursory review of these paragraphs reveals Plaintiff did not seriously attempt to 

“specifically identify[] the facts supporting the remaining counts against the individual 

defendants.” Order, at 11 [Doc. 47]. 

By way of example, Plaintiff’s procedural due process cause of action intimates that 

Defendant Ray was somehow involved in the Dean’s Council’s professionalism proceedings. 
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Am. Compl., at § 220 (a)-(n). However, Plaintiff does not factually allege Ray participated in, or 

was even present at, either meeting of the Dean’s Council. Id. at §§ 86; 103-10. Plaintiff likewise 

claims Defendant Ray and Pamela Greenwood violated his due process rights with respect to the 

Title IX investigation, report, and hearing. Id. at § 221 (a)-(r). However, the Amended Complaint 

does not allege that Ray or Greenwood were part of the investigative team, drafted the report, or 

acted as decision-makers at the Title IX hearing – and Greenwood is no longer a Defendant. 

Plaintiff alleges that “Clark, Williams, Ray and McClendon” conspired with UMMC police 

officers (none of whom have been named as Defendants) in various ways, but Clark is the only 

Defendant alleged to have directly interacted with the police. Id. at § 78. In claiming the 

individual Defendants violated 42 U.S.C. § 1981, Plaintiff repeatedly lumps them together with 

no attempt to attribute specific facts to different actors; for instance: 

The complete acceptance of the white female Complainant’s allegations as true by 
Clark, Williams, McClendon and Ray, and deeming her more credible than 
Plaintiff, as a Black male, despite complainant’s obvious lack of credibility as 
demonstrated by her inconsistent, unsupported and contradictory allegations, which 
were blatantly false, and discredited by available evidence. 
 

Id. at 262(i). 

 The scattershot allegations of Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint are not sufficient to 

overcome qualified immunity, and they ignore the Court’s directives. The Amended Complaint 

also makes no attempt to separate Plaintiff’s non-actionable gripes from any facts that could 

plausibly state a claim. Defendant Ray is still charged with asking Doe’s counsel whether he 

practiced criminal law. Id. at § 131. Defendant McClendon is accused of wrongdoing because 

she “performed in a production of the Vagina Monologues” and (correctly) “informed Plaintiff 

that the Title IX process he suffered through was required as a condition of money the University 

received from the federal government.” Id. at § 124. Eric Hospodor has been dismissed as a 
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Defendant, but his alleged slouching and sighing during the Title IX hearing is still cited as proof 

of race discrimination. Id. at §§ 106; 262(k). 

 Plaintiff could not cite specific caselaw in response to Defendants’ first Motion to 

Dismiss that would have put the individual Defendants on notice that their actions violated his 

clearly established rights. His Amended Complaint has not materially changed his allegations. 

The individual Defendants are entitled to qualified immunity, and the claims against them should 

be dismissed. 

CONCLUSION 
 
 Plaintiff has failed to correct the pleading errors the Court identified within his original 

Complaint, and his Amended Complaint does not allege specific facts that would allow the Court 

to conclude the individual Defendants violated his clearly established rights. The Amended 

Complaint should be dismissed in its entirety, with prejudice. Alternatively, Plaintiff’s claims 

against the individual Defendants should be dismissed. Defendants respectfully request such 

other relief as the Court deems appropriate under the circumstances. 

THIS, the 23d day of May 2022. 

      Respectfully submitted,  

UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER; 

GERALD CLARK; LORETTA JACKSON-WILLIAMS; 

KATIE MCCLENDON; MARK RAY; AND LOUANN 

WOODWARD 

 

 /s/ Paul B. Watkins, Jr.     
 J. CAL MAYO, JR. (MB NO. 8492) 
 PAUL B. WATKINS, JR. (MB NO. 102348) 
 J. ANDREW MAULDIN (MB NO. 104227) 

BREANNA F. G. YOUNG (MB NO. 105536) 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS 

 
OF COUNSEL: 
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MAYO MALLETTE PLLC 
2094 Old Taylor Road, Suite 200 
Oxford, Mississippi 38655 
Tel: (662) 236-0055 
Fax: (662) 236-0035 
cmayo@mayomallette.com 
pwatkins@mayomallette.com 
dmauldin@mayomallette.com 
byoung@mayomallette.com 
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